
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 1 JUNE 2023 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 6.00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Appointment of Vice Chair  
 
 To appoint a vice-chair for this committee for the municipal year 2023/24. 
  
3. Minutes  
 
 Minutes of meeting held on 2 March 2023 (previously circulated).  
  
4. Items of urgent business authorised by the Chair  
 
5. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
6. Morecambe Offshore wind farm - Consultation (Pages 3 - 16) 
 
 Report of the Chief Officer, Planning and Climate Change 
  
7. Response to the Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure Levy (Pages 17 - 39) 
 
 To consider a report of the Chief Officer, Planning and Climate Change. 
  

 
 



 

8. Response to Consultation: Introduction of a use class for short term lets and 
associated permitted development rights (Pages 40 - 49) 

 
 To consider a report of the Chief Officer Planning and Climate Change which was marked 

‘to follow’. The report was published on 25 May 2023.  
  
9. Changes to the Timetable of Meetings for Budget Council (Pages 50 - 51) 
 
 Report of the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections. 
  
10. URGENT BUSINESS DECISION: Response to Technical Consultation Increasing 

Planning Fees and Performance (Pages 52 - 53) 
 
 Report of the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections 
  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors David Whitaker (Chair), Suhir Abuhajar, Matthew Black, John Livermore, 

Sarah McGowan, Jean Parr and Paul Stubbins 
 

 
(ii) Substitute Membership 

 
 Councillors Gina Dowding, Joyce Pritchard, Jason Wood and (Labour) 

 
 
(iii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Debbie Chambers, Democratic Services - email 

dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iv) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support email democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on Tuesday 23 May, 2022.   

 

mailto:democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk


COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm - Consultation 

I June 2023 
Report of Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To allow the Committee to consider the proposed statutory consultation response regarding 
the Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm development project.  
 
 

This report is public.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) That the statutory consultation response be agreed and formally submitted. 
 
 
1.0 Introduction and Statutory Process 
 
1.1 Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project 

(NSIP) that is being proposed by Flotation Energy Ltd and Cobra. 
 

1.2 NSIPs can include proposals for major new roads, railways, harbours, power stations 
and significant energy infrastructure installations. Under the Planning Act 2008, NSIPs 
require a type of consent known as ‘Development Consent’.  Because of their strategic 
national importance, the assessment and consideration of Development Consent is 
the responsibility of the Government’s Planning Inspectorate. 

   
1.3 There are six stages to the NSIP process.  The first of these stages is Pre-Application, 

and this is the current stage of the Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm project.  The 
developers have a statutory duty to carry out public consultation on their proposals.  
The Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm consultation opened on 19 April 2023, and 
closes on 4 June 2023 (https://morecambeandmorgan.com/morecambe/en/). 

 
2.0 Proposal Details 
 
2.1 The proposed Wind Farm will be located approximately 30 kilometres from the 

Lancashire coastline at its nearest point.  The turbines would be visible when looking 
in a south-westerly direction from our coast.  They are proposed to be sited further 
south than Fleetwood, and hence would be some distance from Morecambe Bay.  

 
2.2 The exact layout of the project is still being developed and will not be finalised until the 

project has completed the NSIP stages.  Currently the project would deliver up to 40 
wind turbines, measuring between 296 metres and 345 metres above the highest 
astronomical tide.  The proposed rotor diameter of each turbine would be between 220 
and 300 metres. Each turbine would rotate between 6 and 10 times per minute, and 
the blades of the turbine would be at least 22 metres above sea level.  The project 

Page 3 Agenda Item 6

https://morecambeandmorgan.com/morecambe/en/


would include up to two offshore substation platforms which would be approximately 
80 metres in length, 55 metres in width and 65 metres in height.  The width of cable 
disturbance beneath the seabed would be 25 metres, and the total length of array 
cabling is 110 kilometres.  

 
2.3 The consultation literature includes a number of existing and proposed viewpoints 

along the north west coastline, ranging from South Walney in Cumbria to Great Orme’s 
Head in North Wales.   The single viewpoint in the Lancaster District is from Heysham 
Head, and this has been attached to this report and is evaluated in Section 5. 

 
2.4 When fully operational the Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm is anticipated to generate 

a capacity of 480MW and produce renewable power for over 500,000 homes in the 
UK. 

 
3.0 Other Proposed Offshore Windfarm Projects  
 
3.1 There are three other offshore wind farm projects which are currently subject to 

statutory consultation.  However, these have a very negligible or zero impact upon the 
Lancaster District and the City Council is not a consultee on these other proposals. 

 
3.2 However, for completeness only, the other projects are: 
 

 A Transmission Assets consultation, which proposes indicative landfall areas 
where offshore cables are brought ashore and are connected to the onshore 
cable network. This landfall area would be outside our district, reaching shore 
south of Blackpool and north of Lytham St Annes. The infrastructure would 
progress through an indicative onshore cable corridor towards a substation at 
Penwortham, Preston. 
 

 Morgan Offshore Wind Farm, which is a joint venture between BP and Energie 
Baden Wurttemburg to develop a wind farm in the Irish Sea.  The Morgan Wind 
Farm would be closer to the Isle of Man (22 kilometres approximately) than the 
north west coast (36 kilometres), with similar turbine dimensions to the 
Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm. The Morgan proposals are for upto 107 wind 
turbines and four offshore substation platforms. 

 

 Mona Offshore Wind Farm, which is also a joint venture by BP and Energie 
Baden Wurttemburg for upto 107 wind turbines, again with similar dimensions.  
This proposal is closer to Anglesey (28.2 kilometres) than the north west coast 
(39.9 kilometres). 

 
4.0 Details of Consultation 
 
4.1 Lancaster City Council is a consultee and is not a decision-maker in the NSIP process.  

The developers are undertaking statutory public consultation which includes 19 in-
person consultation events and 1 online webinar, and formal Notices placed in all 
relevant regional, national and trade press. It is not for the City Council to evaluate the 
extent of this statutory consultation process. 

 
4.2 The latter stages in the NSIP process also include a public right to register to become 

an ‘Interested Party’ and present further written representations. 
 
5.0 Assessment  
 

Page 4



5.1 The visual impacts upon the Lancaster District are considered to be not significant.  
The developer has produced a Seascape, Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
which provides two montage and wireframe plans illustrating the proposed turbine 
positions and heights. For comparison purposes, the montage includes the existing 
offshore wind turbines.  Visual 2a indicates 20 turbines at a maximum height scenario, 
whilst Visual 2b indicates the maximum of 40 turbines but at a lesser height. 

  
5.2 The viewpoint from Heysham Head is a sensitive one due to the vast expanse of 

Morecambe Bay and the location of informal paths at Heysham Barrows which allows 
residents and visitors to enjoy the view. 

 
5.3 The upper sections of the turbines and their rotors would be visible on the horizon even 

at their smaller proposed height, but would comprise small-scale elements in the view 
due to the long distances involved.  The distance is such that ‘very good’ or ‘excellent’ 
visibility is likely to be required for the turbines to be visible. In relation to Heysham 
Head, where the nearest turbines would be located just over 46km away, the frequency 
of the turbines being visible is approximately 17%, relying on Met Office data.  Given 
the distances involved, Lancaster City Council considers that the project will not have 
a significant impact in seascape, landscape or visual terms. 

 
5.4     The wind farm falls within the Morecambe Bay Special Area of Conservation, Sefton 

Coast Special Area of Conservation, West of Copeland Marine Conservation Zone 
(MCZ), West of Walney Marine Consultation Zone and Fylde Marine Consultation 
Zone. The Environmental Statement (ES) examines the wider physical process that 
may affect marine species. The assessment considers the potential effects on waves, 
tidal current and the movement of sediment. During construction there is the potential 
for foundation and cable installation to disturb the sediment, resulting in suspended 
sediments in the water column. The largest extent of sediment transport is the spring 
tide (10km) however would be small scale and have localised temporary effects. 

 
5.5 Benthic ecology (the ecology found at the lowest level of the sea) is a key issue, and 

seabed surveys have been undertaken across the windfarm site. These survey results 
were then used to produce a habitat map to inform the assessment. Species and 
habitats of conservation importance were found to be sufficiently distant from the 
windfarm site, so any significant potential impacts are expected to be unlikely. 
Additional survey data is required to examine the potential effects of harbour porpoise 
and harbour seal, but this will be explored further as part of the Development Consent 
Order process.  There is a commitment from the applicants to undertake this work. 

 
5.6    The potential effects on offshore ornithology have been minimised through project 

design, as the scheme is located outside any designated areas of importance for bird 
populations. The potential impacts are more likely during the construction and the 
decommissioning stages of the project. The operational wind farm could cause some 
disturbance, displacement and barrier effects. In isolation the scheme is not likely to 
result in significant effects, however there is the potential for cumulative effects (with 
other schemes) for displacement and collision risk during the operational stages.  The 
overall effects are considered to be no greater than ‘minor adverse’, with the exception 
of impacts upon the great black backed gull which is potentially significant. Further 
survey work is ongoing to establish the impact on this species. 

 
5.7 The consultation literature includes a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

Habitats and species of international nature conservation importance have historically 
been protected by the European Directive (92/43/EEC) of the Conservation of Natural 
Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna (The Habitats Directive). This was transposed into 
British law via the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. Following 

Page 5



the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union, a number of amendments have been 
made to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) to ensure that 
they remain operable post January 2021. Most of these changes involve transferring 
functions from the European Commission to the appropriate authorities in England and 
Wales. 

 
5.8 The amended regulations continue to identify a national site network comprising 

protected sites previously identified as part of the EU’s Natura 2000 ecological 
network. The national site network includes Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), 
and Special Protection Areas (SPAs). Ramsar sites (i.e. a wetlands site considered 
internationally important, named after the location of the treaty which was signed in 
Ramsar, Iran) are similarly protected despite not being identified in the ecological 
network. Government policy statements have been issued making clear that they 
should be afforded the same level of protection afforded to SPAs and SACs. 

 
5.9 Under the Regulations, an assessment is required where a plan or project may give 

rise to significant effects upon a protected site. The overarching aim of HRA is to 
determine, in view of a site’s conservation objectives and qualifying interests, whether 
a plan or project, either in isolation and/or in combination with other plans would have 
a significant adverse effect on a designated site. If the screening concludes that a 
significant adverse effect is likely, then an Appropriate Assessment must be 
undertaken to determine whether there will be adverse effects on site integrity. 

 
5.10 A number of European sites are located in close proximity to the proposed application 

site. The Morecambe Bay and Duddon Bay Estuary SPA and Ramsar site lies 
approximately 26km from the wind farm site. The main impact pathway in relation to 
these sites was found to be in relation to potential impacts to breeding and migratory 
birds, specifically the herring gull, lesser black-backed gull and sandwich tern.  

 
5.11     The assessment reveals that there would be no measurable effects on sandwich terns 

or herring gulls and therefore no adverse impact on the integrity of the Morecambe 
Bay SPA. Following further analysis of data and consideration of potential mortality 
rates, it was concluded that predicted increases in the mortality rate of lesser black-
backed gull (potentially 1.7% during the breeding season) would not adversely affect 
the integrity of the Morecambe Bay and Duddon Estuary SPA and Ramsar site. 

 
5.12 The HRA Screening Report also concludes that having considered the supporting 

evidence there would be no adverse effect on the integrity of the Morecambe Bay and 
Duddon Estuary SPA and Ramsar, when considering the project in combination with 
other plans or projects. This assessment will be updated as part of the formal 
Development Consent Order submission, assisted by the inclusion of two full years of 
survey data.  

 
5.13 The assessment also considers the impacts upon commercial fisheries. Key fleets in 

the assessment include UK (inc. Isle of Man), Irish Scallop dredgers, UK potters 
targeting shellfish (whelk, lobster and brown crab) and some localised inshore trawling 
brown shrimp. There are some significant effects for the UK potting fleet in relation to 
a reduction of access and displacement impacts during the construction and 
decommissioning stages. Additional mitigation is proposed following Fisheries Liaison 
with Offshore Wind and Wet Renewables (FLOWW).  This could include evidence-
based disturbance payments to reduce the effects to ‘minor adverse’ or lower. These 
are not considered significant in Environmental Impact Assessment terms.  The 
developer indicates that discussions will continue with relevant commercial fishery 
stakeholders. 

 

Page 6



5.14  Shipping and navigation effects (people and goods) are also considered. Vessel 
movements relating to oil and gas infrastructure account for a large proportion of 
activity within the locality. The main operators in the Irish Sea include the Isle of Man 
Steam Packet Company who operate between Douglas, Liverpool and Heysham; 
Seatruck, who operate between Heysham, Liverpool, Dublin and Warrenpoint; and 
P&O, who operate between Liverpool and Dublin. Significant effects were not identified 
in relation to commercial fishing and shipping.  However, effects, and cumulative 
effects (considering other projects in the Irish Sea) and the mitigations required, will 
need to be further assessed and discussed with stakeholders.  Of the routes identified 
above, only the Liverpool to Douglas Ferry and the Liverpool to Belfast routes would 
be affected, and Lancaster City Council will offer no observations regarding the impact 
on these routes outside our district. 

 
5.15 There is the potential for the rotating turbine blades to cause interference to the civil 

and military aerodromes to their Primary Surveillance Radar.  A range of mitigation 
measures are embedded in the project design to reduce potential aviation effects. 
Technical solutions are available and such solutions will be agreed with the affected 
operators. Discussions between the developer and Blackpool Airport are ongoing.    

 
5.16 Climate change has been considered in the ES, and the assessment includes a 

greenhouse gas assessment to determine the emissions associated with the delivery 
and operation of the project. Unsurprisingly, the data indicates that the construction 
stage will incur the highest levels of greenhouse gas emission, but that the operational 
period will deliver considerable beneficial effects.  For example, during the project 
lifespan there will be significant greenhouse gas savings when compared to the energy 
produced from non-renewable sources.  This is estimated to amount to an equivalent 

saving of approximately 36 million tonnes CO₂. The project would therefore support 
the UKs transition to a low-to-zero carbon generation energy mix. 

 
5.17 The consultation literature also includes a socio-economic, tourism and recreation 

assessment.  There have been no significant impacts predicted on the tourism 
economy, including any tourism assets within the Lancaster District.   

 
5.18 An assessment of activities which may affect a person’s physical or mental health 

during the construction, operation, maintenance and decommissioning of the project, 
has been undertaken.  The assessment is hindered by the fact that there is, at this 
stage, no confirmation regarding which port would service the project.  This means that 
the Human Health assessment does not yet consider, in any great detail, the 
implications for human health at the relevant port.  Whilst no significant effects are 
expected, there will need to be a separate Health Impact Assessment once a port has 
been selected.   Benefits are anticipated during the operational stage, relating to the 
positive impacts of climate mitigation and the public health improvements derived from 
access to clean and secure energy.  

 
5.19 An assessment on the historical landscape and seabed features of archaeological 

interest, such as wrecks of either maritime or aviation origin has been undertaken. A 
number of seabed features of low and medium archaeological have been identified. 
There is the potential for the presence of further maritime and aviation archaeological 
to be present, which has not been identified in the geophysical data. The applicants 
propose to address this via the submission of a written scheme of investigation as part 
of the Development Consent Order submission. 

 
 
6.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 

Page 7



6.1 The options that are available are: 
 

 Option 1:  To respond to the 
consultation with a letter of 
support, caveated so as the 
City Council is consulted 
again should the proposals 
be amended 

Option 2:  To respond to 
the consultation with other 
comments 

Option 3:  To not 
submit a 
response to this 
consultation 

Advantages 
 

The views of the Council will 
be considered by 
Government when the 
proposals are advanced 
through the NSIP process. 
 

The views of the Council 
will be considered by 
Government when the 
proposals are advanced 
through the NSIP process. 
 

None 

Disadvantages 
 

None. None. The formal 
opinion of 
Lancaster City 
Council would not 
be provided, and 
an opportunity to 
contribute to the 
proposals would 
be lost.   

Risks 
 

None. None. None 

  
 

7.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
7.1 The preferred option is Option 1, to respond to the consultation with support for the 

project, with the caveat described in the above table.  
 
8.0 Conclusion 
 
8.1 The project would deliver significant benefits in the country’s ambitions to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions to reach Net Zero.  It would make use of an area of 
coastline that already accommodates offshore wind turbines and can optimise 
generation capacity.  The impacts described in this report are negligible for the reasons 
provided.  It is therefore considered that Lancaster City Council provides a letter of 
support for the principle of the Morecambe Offshore Wind Farm, with a caveat that the 
City Council is consulted again should the proposals be subject to further amendment.. 

 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
The proposal would support the UK’s Energy Security Strategy and deliver a significant 
increase in offshore wind energy, helping to contribute towards the country’s Net Zero 
ambitions.  
 
Responding to the consultation is Lancaster City Council’s opportunity to support the principle 
of offshore renewable energy generation. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 8



None arising from this consultation. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None arising from this consultation. 
  

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
None. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
[Insert Section 151 Officer comments here] 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
[Insert Monitoring Officer’s comments here] 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Chapter 18 Seascape, Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment Figures – 2a Visuals 
 
Chapter 18 Seascape, Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment Figures – 2b Visuals 
 

Contact Officer:  Mark Cassidy 
Telephone:  01524 582390  
Email:  mcassidy@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A 
 
  
 

  
 

Page 9



FLO-MOR-REP-0006-XX P a g e  | 1 of 1 

Morecambe Offshore Windfarm: Generation Assets 

Chapter 18 Seascape, Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessment 
Figures - 2a Visuals 

Preliminary Environmental Information Report 

Volume 3 

Page 10



Extent of 53.5° planar panorama

Extent of central 50mm frame used to construct panorama 

Horizontal field of view:  90° (cylindrical projection)
Principal distance    522 mm

Baseline photograph This image provides landscape and visual context only

Figure: 18:32b
Viewpoint 7: Heysham Head, Chapel Hill The-
Barrows

OS reference:   340939 E 461567 N
Eye level:   30.74 m AOD
Direction of view:  240°
Nearest turbine:  46.054 km

Camera:   Canon EOS 6D
Lens:    EF50mm f/1.4 USM
Camera height:   1.5 m AGL
Date and time:   19/04/2022, 11:16

Wireline drawing.  Morecambe: Maximum height scenario 20 x 345m WTGs

Morecambe: Maximum height scenario 20 x 345m WTGs (46.1km)Morecambe: Maximum height scenario 20 x 345m WTGs (46.1km) Walney 2 (41.9km)Walney 2 (41.9km)
Walney 1 (35.7km)Walney 1 (35.7km)

West of Duddon Sands (32.7km)West of Duddon Sands (32.7km)
Barrow (24.8km)Barrow (24.8km)

Ormonde (33km)Ormonde (33km)

Burbo Bank Extension (64.4km)Burbo Bank Extension (64.4km)
Walney Extension 3 (56.6km)Walney Extension 3 (56.6km)

Walney Extension 4 (42.2km)Walney Extension 4 (42.2km)

Heysham Port (1.7km)Heysham Port (1.7km)

Awel y Môr (79.8km)Awel y Môr (79.8km) Mona (67.9km)Mona (67.9km)
Morgan (58.3km)Morgan (58.3km)

P
age 11



Horizontal field of view:  53.5° (planar projection)
Principal distance    812.5 mm
Paper size:    841 x 297 mm (half A1)
Correct printed image size:  820 x 260 mm

View flat at a comfortable arm’s length

Figure: 18:32e
Viewpoint 7: Heysham Head, Chapel Hill The-
Barrows

OS reference:   340939 E 461567 N
Eye level:   30.74 m AOD
Direction of view:  240°
Nearest turbine:  46.054 km

Camera:   Canon EOS 6D
Lens:    EF50mm f/1.4 USM
Camera height:   1.5 m AGL
Date and time:   19/04/2022, 11:16

Wireline drawing.  Morecambe: Maximum height scenario 20 x 345m WTGs

P
age 12



Horizontal field of view:  53.5° (planar projection)
Principal distance    812.5 mm
Paper size:    841 x 297 mm (half A1)
Correct printed image size:  820 x 260 mm

View flat at a comfortable arm’s length

Figure: 18:32f
Viewpoint 7: Heysham Head, Chapel Hill The-
Barrows

OS reference:   340939 E 461567 N
Eye level:   30.74 m AOD
Direction of view:  240°
Nearest turbine:  46.054 km

Camera:   Canon EOS 6D
Lens:    EF50mm f/1.4 USM
Camera height:   1.5 m AGL
Date and time:   19/04/2022, 11:16

Baseline Photograph (offshore operational turbines have been rendered in this view)

P
age 13



Horizontal field of view:  53.5° (planar projection)
Principal distance    812.5 mm
Paper size:    841 x 297 mm (half A1)
Correct printed image size:  820 x 260 mm

View flat at a comfortable arm’s length

Figure: 18:32g
Viewpoint 7: Heysham Head, Chapel Hill The-
Barrows

OS reference:   340939 E 461567 N
Eye level:   30.74 m AOD
Direction of view:  240°
Nearest turbine:  46.054 km

Camera:   Canon EOS 6D
Lens:    EF50mm f/1.4 USM
Camera height:   1.5 m AGL
Date and time:   19/04/2022, 11:16

Photomontage

P
age 14



FLO-MOR-REP-0006-XX P a g e  | 1 of 1 

Morecambe Offshore Windfarm: Generation Assets 

Chapter 18 Seascape, Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessment 
Figures - 2b Visuals

Preliminary Environmental Information Report 

Volume 3 

Page 15



Horizontal field of view:  90° (cylindrical projection)
Principal distance    522 mm

Baseline photograph This image provides landscape and visual context only

Figure: 18:56
Viewpoint 7: Heysham Head, Chapel Hill The-
Barrows

OS reference:   340939 E 461567 N
Eye level:   30.74 m AOD
Direction of view:  240°
Nearest turbine:  46.054 km

Camera:   Canon EOS 6D
Lens:    EF50mm f/1.4 USM
Camera height:   1.5 m AGL
Date and time:   19/04/2022, 11:16

Wireline drawing.  Morecambe: Maximum number scenario 40 x 265m WTGs

Morecambe: Maximum number scenario 40 x 265m WTGs (46.1km)Morecambe: Maximum number scenario 40 x 265m WTGs (46.1km) Walney 2 (41.9km)Walney 2 (41.9km)
Walney 1 (35.7km)Walney 1 (35.7km)

West of Duddon Sands (32.7km)West of Duddon Sands (32.7km)
Barrow (24.8km)Barrow (24.8km)

Ormonde (33km)Ormonde (33km)

Burbo Bank Extension (64.4km)Burbo Bank Extension (64.4km)
Walney Extension 3 (56.6km)Walney Extension 3 (56.6km)

Walney Extension 4 (42.2km)Walney Extension 4 (42.2km)

Heysham Port (1.7km)Heysham Port (1.7km)

Awel y Môr (79.8km)Awel y Môr (79.8km) Mona (67.9km)Mona (67.9km)
Morgan (58.3km)Morgan (58.3km)

P
age 16



COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
Response to the Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure 

Levy 
1 June 2023 

 
Report of Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change  

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To inform members of the national consultation about the proposed 
Infrastructure Levy and to consider the draft response at Appendix 1 as the 
formal response from Lancaster City Council. 
 
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities has published 
proposals to introduce a national Infrastructure Levy to reform the existing 
system of developer contributions which consists of Section 106 planning 
obligations and where adopted, the Community Infrastructure Levy. The 
proposed Infrastructure Levy would be a national mandatory system for 
collecting contributions from developers to support the provision of the 
infrastructure necessary to mitigate the impacts of development. The 
Infrastructure Levy would be calculated as a proportion of Gross Development 
Value and used by local authorities to deliver infrastructure.  
 
The consultation is seeking views on the design of the Infrastructure Levy and 
of the regulations which will set out the detail. A further consultation on the 
drafting of the regulations will follow. The consultation documents consist of the 
‘Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure Levy’ which explains the proposals 
and poses a series of questions and ‘Exploring the Potential Effects of the 
Proposed Infrastructure Levy’. Both documents can be found using the link at 
the end of this report.  
 
The draft response to the consultation is required by the 9th June 2023. The 
proposed response is appended to this report.  
 

This report is public  

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 

(1) That the draft response at Appendix 1 of this report is submitted to the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities as the formal response from Lancaster 
City Council. 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 On the 17th March 2023, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) published the Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure Levy (the Consultation) 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



seeking views on the design of the proposed Infrastructure Levy (the Levy) and the 
Regulations.  

 
1.2 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill (the Bill) seeks to reform the existing system of 

developer contributions which consists of Section 106 planning obligations and where 
adopted the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with a single system for the collection of 
contributions. Part 4 Schedule 11 of the Bill provides the framework for the Levy. The Bill 
introduces the following components of the Levy: 

 
 The Levy will be a mandatory charge. 

 Levy rates are to be set by charging authorities (generally the local authority). When 
setting rates, they must consider the infrastructure necessary to mitigate the impacts of 
development, viability and rates which can deliver affordable housing at a level equalling 
or exceeding the level currently delivered by developers. 

 Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedules will be examined in public before rates can be 
adopted. 

 The Secretary of State for DLUHC can intervene in the preparation of charging 
schedules in certain circumstances. 

 Charging authorities must publish an Infrastructure Delivery Strategy. 
 

Once the Bill reaches Royal Assent, the above elements will feature in primary legislation. 
The government is not seeking views on these aspects. The technical consultation seeks 
responses on those elements of design that will be delivered through regulations. There will 
be further consultation of the detailed drafting of regulations in the future. 

 
1.3 The proposals for the Levy contained within the Consultation have been informed by the 

responses received to the Planning for the Future White Paper. The council’s response to 
the White Paper was considered by the Business Committee on 15th October 2020.   

 
1.4 The recommendation from officers is that Lancaster City Council (the council) submit a 

formal response to the Levy Consultation. The draft response is attached at Appendix 1 of 
this report.    

 
2.0 Proposal Details 
 
Key Proposals of the Levy 
 
2.1 The headline proposals include: 
 

 The Levy will be mandatory.  

 It will be charged on the Gross Development Value (GDV) at completion per square 
metre above a minimum threshold.  

 Local authorities will set levy rates and thresholds based on local circumstances 
including the infrastructure required to mitigate the impacts of development within a local 
plan, affordable housing requirements and viability. 

 Variable rates may be set for different areas, typologies of land and development types 
within a local authority, to reflect market areas and viability.  

 Levy rates are to be set out in a charging schedule which will be subject to Examination 
in Public by a planning inspector before the levy can come into effect. 

Page 18



 Local planning authorities will need to prepare an Infrastructure Delivery Strategy (IDS) 
setting out the types of infrastructure that the Levy will be expected to contribute to, the 
expectation on affordable housing and how infrastructure delivery will be prioritised. The 
IDS will also set out what proportion of the Levy the local authority will expect 
developers to contribute as on-site affordable housing, this housing will be subject to a 
right to acquire. 

 The Levy will not apply to integral on-site infrastructure which has no wider community 
benefits. This may include on-site roads and paths, playgrounds, sustainable drainage, 
landscaped areas etc. These will continue to be secured by condition. 

 It is proposed to include exemptions for affordable housing, self-build housing and 
residential annexes. 

 Local authorities will be responsible for delivering infrastructure at the time it is needed 
to support and mitigate the impacts of development. As the Levy will be paid when 
development is at, or close to completion, there will be a time lag before funding starts to 
flow. Local authorities will be able to borrow against future Levy receipts to ensure 
infrastructure is delivered when required. 

 It is proposed that a proportion of the Levy from each site will be transferred to the 
parish or town council where it is located for use to deliver local infrastructure projects.  

 The Levy is not anticipated to be fully introduced for ten years. It will be trialled before 
full introduction.  

 
The consultation provides further detail regarding the above proposals and is structured 

around a series of consultation questions.  
 

Scope of the Levy 
 

2.2 The Levy will be a mandatory non-negotiable regime and the scale and type of 
developments which make contributions can be increased. The government considers this 
will increase the development which makes contributions and the amount contributed as 
developers will need to take the Levy into account when negotiating land payment.  

   
2.3 The proposals are intended to provide a pool of funding for infrastructure arising from the 

cumulative impacts of development, in the same way as CIL. Such infrastructure could 
include, expansion or provision of new schools, sustainable travel improvements and 
provision, road provision and improvements, off-site flood mitigation, and amenity 
infrastructure. Unlike CIL, where affordable housing remains negotiable at application 
stage, the calculation of the Levy will also include the cost of delivering affordable housing 
provision. Local authorities will be able to require a proportion of the Levy to be delivered on 
site in-kind in the form of affordable housing. Some infrastructure will be required to be 
delivered to ensure a site can function, for example internal roads/footways/cycle paths, 
drainage, and amenity space. Such integral infrastructure will be incorporated into the cost 
of a scheme and delivered by a developer. The Consultation seeks views on the type of 
infrastructure which will be funded by Levy contributions, which will be considered integral 
and how these should be set out, for example in regulations or as a set of national or local 
principles. 

 
2.4 The Consultation sets out three routes to infrastructure delivery though the Levy and seeks 

view on the various roles: 
 

 Core Levy where most development will be subject to the Levy and infrastructure will be 
delivered by local authorities. Integral infrastructure will be delivered by developers. 

Page 19



 In-kind which is proposed to be retained for large and complex sites. The value of the in-
kind provision must be equal to or above the Levy contribution. The Consultation asks for 
opinions on various thresholds. 

 S106s would be retained for the minority of cases, for example minerals sites. 
 
Levy Rates and Minimum Thresholds 
 
2.5 The Levy will be applied as a percentage figure charged on the GDV of a scheme above a 

minimum threshold. Levy rates will be charged on the internal area (m2) of a development 
as a percentage of the final GDV (£ per m2) above the minimum threshold. 

 
2.6 The Consultation sets out various approaches which balance viability and land value 

capture. Rates would be set using typologies and using a buffer in a similar way to how 
Local Plan and CIL viability is currently set and consider the value of existing contributions. 
It proposes that local authorities can set stepped rates which increase in the future as the 
Levy beds in. It will also allow the setting of differing rates to reflect market areas and 
values within a district. Existing floor space, brownfield and regeneration schemes could 
also be treated differently. The Consultation seeks views on including ‘permitted 
development’ within the scope of the Levy, and how marginal brownfield land should be 
dealt with.  

 
2.7  It is proposed that local authorities would set out rates in a charging schedule supported by 

evidence which would be consulted upon and subject to public examination. Minimum 
thresholds of GDV would be indexed to reflect changes over time.  

 
Charging and Paying the Levy 
 
2.8 It is proposed that Levy calculation and payment will be through a three-stage process. An 

indicative liability calculation would be submitted with a planning application. A land charge 
would be placed on the land to ensure future payment. Post-decision/commencement but 
before the development is occupied there would be a provisional liability calculation and 
payment. A proportion would be paid at this point and the land charge removed. The final 
payment would be made on completion or once the development is sold based on the GDV 
at this final stage. Depending on GDV additional payments may be required or the local 
authority may need to make repayments. The Consultation seeks views on the proposed 
process. 

 
 Delivering Infrastructure 
 
2.9 The Levy seeks to ensure infrastructure is delivered at the right time. Local authorities will 

be expected to produce an Infrastructure Delivery Strategy which will set out infrastructure 
spending priorities and the timing of delivery to support development and mitigate the 
impact of cumulative development. Significant engagement will be necessary with 
stakeholders to determine the necessary infrastructure, costs, timescale for delivery and 
alternative funding opportunities. To ensure infrastructure is delivered at the right time, local 
authorities will be able to borrow funds against the future Levy proceeds and pass this onto 
infrastructure providers. The Consultation seeks view on the mechanisms for delivery. 

 
 Delivering Affordable Housing 
 
2.10 It is proposed that the affordable housing requirements will be built into the Levy 

calculation. Local authorities will set out the proportion of the Levy to be provided in-kind on 
site and/or a proportion which will be required as a contribution specifically for affordable 
housing provision. Discounted Levy rates for 100% affordable housing schemes are 
proposed. The system is intended to limit the scope for negotiation and ensure more 

Page 20



affordable housing is provided. The Consultation seeks views on whether this will be 
effective.   

 
 The Neighbourhood Share 
 
2.11 CIL provides a proportion of the contributions to the town or parish council in which a 

development is located. This can be used to address local infrastructure issues. The 
consultation seeks view on whether this should be retained. 

 
 The Administrative Portion 
 
2.12 Views are sought on the proportion of the Levy which may be used for administration of the 

system. 
 
 Exemptions and Reduced Rates 
 
2.13 CIL includes exemptions for example, affordable housing, self-build housing, charitable 

development. The Consultation also considered whether small sites should be exempt and 
whether publicly funded infrastructure should be subject to contributions. The Consultation 
seeks views on exemptions. 

 
 Enforcement 
 
2.14 The local land charge is intended to ensure payment are made. It is acknowledged that this 

may not always be effective, and it is expected the use of Stop Notices would be available 
for use by local authorities. The Consultation seeks views on the effectiveness of the 
measures proposed.  

 
 Introducing the Levy 
 
2.15 Views are sought on the proposed ‘test and learn’ approach which would involve some 

authorities being pilots for the introduction of the Levy. 
 
 
3.0 Details of Consultation  
 
3.1 Due to the timing of the consultation and the elections there has been no consultation. 
 
 
Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 

 Option 1: To 
formally respond to 
the Consultation with 
the draft at Appendix 
1 of this report. 

Option 2: To amend 
the draft response at 
Appendix 1 and 
submit the 
amendments as the 
formal response to 
the Consultation.  

Option 3: To provide 
no response to the 
Consultation. 

Advantages 
The view of the 
council will be 
considered when the 
government 
proceeds with 
designing the Levy 
and Regulations.  

The view of the 
council will be 
considered when the 
government 
proceeds with 
designing the Levy 
and Regulations. 

No advantages. 

Page 21



Disadvantages 
The response may 
not result in the 
issues raised being 
dealt with in the final 
design of the Levy or 
drafting of 
Regulations.  

The response may 
not result in the 
issues raised being 
dealt with in the final 
design of the Levy or 
drafting of 
Regulations. 

The views of the 
council will not be 
taken into account. 

Risks 
The design of the 
Levy and drafting of 
Regulations may not 
address the issues 
raised by the council. 

The design of the 
Levy and drafting of 
Regulations may not 
address the issues 
raised by the council. 

The views of the 
council will not be 
taken into account 
and future 
opportunities to feed 
into the process may 
be lost. 

 
 

4.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
4.1 Option 1 is the preferred option. This option will ensure that the council provides views on the 

design of the Levy and the drafting of Regulations. A further opportunity to comment is 
expected to be available once the Regulations have been drafted.  

 
5.0 Conclusion 
 
5.1 It is recommended that the proposed response set out in Appendix 1 is submitted as the 

councils formal response to this consultation. 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

The councils Corporate Policies (Jan 2022) include securing investment for the district, 
transitioning to an accessible and inclusive low-carbon and active transport system, 
supporting flood resilience and developing housing to ensure people of all incomes are 
comfortable, warm and able to maintain their independence.  

The Lancaster District Local Plan includes a range of policies which seek to deliver 
sustainable development which mitigates the impacts on infrastructure and provides 
affordable homes. 

The Consultation relates to how development will support and fund the delivery of the 
infrastructure needed to mitigate the impacts and will have implications for how this is 
addressed in policy, guidance and practice in the future. 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
HR, Sustainability and Rural Proofing) 

Responding to the Consultation provides the council with the best opportunity to raise 
any issues relating to these matters.  

The implementation of the Levy will pass through the Parliamentary system, which 
includes impact assessment and will subsequently be implemented by the council using 
the direction given through national regulation and policy.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

None identified. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 22



None identified at this stage. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Human Resources: 

None identified. 

Information Services: 

None identified. 

Property: 

None identified. 

Open Spaces: 

None identified. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The s151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add. 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background Files 

The consultation documents can be 
found here: 

Technical consultation on the 
Infrastructure Levy - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

Contact Officer: Fiona Clark 

Telephone:  01524 582222 

E-mail: fjclark@lancaster.gov.uk 

 

 
 

  

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/technical-consultation-on-the-infrastructure-levy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/technical-consultation-on-the-infrastructure-levy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/technical-consultation-on-the-infrastructure-levy


Appendix 1 – Draft Lancaster City Council Response to the 

Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure Levy 

 
Question 1: Do you agree that the existing CIL definition of ‘development’ should be maintained 
under the Infrastructure Levy, with the following excluded from the definition: 
 
- developments of less than 100 square metres (unless this consists of one or more dwellings 
and does not meet the self-build criteria) – Yes  
- Buildings which people do not normally go into - Yes  
- Buildings into which peoples go only intermittently for the purpose of inspecting or maintaining 
fixed plant or machinery - Yes  
- Structures which are not buildings, such as pylons and wind turbines. Yes  
 
Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 
The thresholds and types of development above will ensure that development which has a 
signficiant cumulative impact on infrastructure will contribute. There must however be scope to 
secure S106 contributions and infrastructure from development which does not fall within the 
definition, where it is necessary to address specific development impacts. 
 
 
Question 2: Do you agree that developers should continue to provide certain kinds of 
infrastructure, including infrastructure that is incorporated into the design of the site, outside of 
the Infrastructure Levy? [Yes/No/Unsure].  
 
Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 
Where infrastructure is necessary to make a specific development acceptable and/or where 
infrastructure integral to a site, this should be provided by directly the developer.  
The examples of ‘integral’ infrastructure are noted, however, there may also include instances 
where a specific development requires, for example, on-site school provision, GP provision or off-
site highway improvements which are necessary to mitigate the impacts of a specific 
development. There must be a mechanism in place to ensure that such infrastructure can be 
delivered as either integral infrastructure or ‘in kind’.  
 
There must also be scope for the delivery of infrastructure on a specific site which may be 
required to serve wider communities and development beyond the site. For example, a site may 
be the most appropriate location for a new school to serve a wider area. There must be a 
mechanism for the provision of land and the school infrastructure to be required and delivered 
either in-kind, via contributions or a combination of both, using funds accrued from elsewhere. 
 
The ongoing management and maintenance of SuDS/open space and other on-site infrastructure 
should also remain subject to S106s. 
 

Page 24



The Levy funded infrastructure at paragraph 1.22 should also include indoor leisure and 
recreation facilities, community facilities such as community centres, youth centres, clubs and 
facilities. 
 
 
Question 3: What should be the approach for setting the distinction between integral and Levy-
funded infrastructure? [see para 1.28 for options a), b), or c) or a combination of these]. Please 
provide a free text response to explain your answer, using case study examples if possible. 

a) A set of principles established in regulations or policy. For infrastructure to be considered 
‘integral’. 

b) A nationally set list of types of infrastructure that are either ‘integral’ or ‘Levy-funded’ set out in 
regulations or policy.  

c) Principles and typologies are set locally. 
 
Response: 
 
The most appropriate approach would be a mixture of approaches: 
‘a) A set of principles established in regulations or policy’; and ‘c) Principles and typologies are 
set locally’.  
 
This would allow the general principles to be established nationally, with local principles which 
are bespoke and more detailed to address infrastructure requirements within communities. A 
potential issue and area of disagreement is where the distinction between ‘integral’ infrastructure 
to be built on site by a developer and Levy funded infrastructure lies both at plan making and 
application stages. The nationally set principles must be clear and include lists for local 
authorities to adopt, adapt or add to as necessary. 
 
 
Question 4: Do you agree that local authorities should have the flexibility to use some of their 
Levy funding for non-infrastructure items such as service provision? [Yes/No/Unsure] Please 
provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 
However, contributions should only be available to provide services where they are not funded by 
alterative means such as government grants, payments, or other tax receipts. It may be 
appropriate for contributions to support services where there is a short-term funding gap, 
however once the funding is in place and if this is back dated, the funds should be recouped into 
the Levy fund for the provision of infrastructure. If this is permitted, mechanisms must be in place 
to ensure that funding for services is not duplicated. It must be made clear that use for services is 
at the discretion of the local authority, they are not required to address finding gaps and that use 
of the Levy for services must not prejudice the delivery of infrastructure and affordable homes. 
 
 
Question 5: Should local authorities be expected to prioritise infrastructure and affordable 
housing needs before using the Levy to pay for non-infrastructure items such as local services? 
[Yes/No/Unsure]. Should expectations be set through regulations or policy? Please provide a free 
text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 

Page 25



The existing mechanisms provide for infrastructure and affordable housing provision first, this 
should continue to ensure that the elements required to support and deliver a development are 
funded through the Levy. The contributions received through the Levy are unlikely to be 
significantly greater than those received through CIL or S106. It is therefore not envisaged that 
there would be sufficient funds available to fund the necessary infrastructure, provide affordable 
housing and additional services. 
 
Priorities should be set through policy to ensure that they reflect the view of local communities 
and meet the local needs. 
 
 
Question 6: Are there other non-infrastructure items not mentioned in this document that this 
element of the Levy funds could be spent on? [Yes/No/Unsure] Please provide a free text 
response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 
Non-infrastructure items could include addressing climate change through retrofitting of existing 
properties, flood risk mitigation and resilience measures un-related to planned growth (up-stream 
measures to protect a wider area), strategic provision of EV car/bike hubs/sharing facilities and 
services.  
 
 
Question 7: Do you have a favoured approach for setting the ‘infrastructure in-kind’ threshold? 
[high threshold/medium threshold/low threshold/local authority discretion/none of the above]. 
Please provide a free text response to explain your answer, using case study examples if 
possible. 
 

Response: 

 
d) Local authority discretion.  
 
The infrastructure required in kind will be dependent upon site circumstances. Sites which fall 
within the suggested ‘low threshold’ may require the provision of services and facilities (referred 
to in the list at paragraph 1.22) on site. For example, sites within the low threshold may require 
the provision of schools, local service centres etc, especially if the site is the most appropriate 
location for new provision required to address the cumulative impacts of planned development. It 
may be that a specific development would be required to deliver elements in kind with the 
remainder provided through contributions from other sites.  
 
The infrastructure to be delivered ‘in-kind’ and that via the Levy route would be explored during 
the allocation process and expressed in the Infrastructure Delivery Strategy. When allocating 
sites, local planning authorities will need the ability to differentiate between infrastructure which is 
to be provided in-kind, wider infrastructure which would be funded from a range of sites and 
delivered incrementally and in combination. 
 
The combination of Levy payments, in kind solutions and affordable housing right-to-acquire, 
could potentially be complex and onerous for local authorities to determine at plan making stage 
and to operate. Clear guidance about the type and extent of evidence required to support the 
Levy through examination will be needed for both local authorities and stakeholders. If the 
evidence required is onerous, for example detailed plans and costs for infrastructure, the time 

Page 26



and expense for local authorities could be signficiant resulting in delays to adoption of plans and 
the Levy. A potential issue and area of disagreement is where the distinction between ‘integral’ 
infrastructure to be built on site by a developer and Levy funded infrastructure lies both at plan 
making and application stages. This could add to the complexity and length of examinations. 
 
 
Question 8: Is there anything else you feel the government should consider in defining the use of 
s106 within the three routeways, including the role of delivery agreements to secure matters that 
cannot be secured via a planning condition? Please provide a free text response to explain your 
answer. 
 
Response: 
 
It is not clear whether it is intended to include a route which provides for a combination of Levy 
and in-kind provision. This is required to address circumstances where a site may require on site 
delivery, for example provision of a school which will serve a wider area than simply the 
application site and Levy contributions towards wider active travel and highway infrastructure. 
S106 agreements will be required to ensure that affordable housing remains affordable in 
perpetuity, set out discount rates, ensure funds are recycled to provide alternative affordable 
housing where shared ownership owners staircase out or where rent to buy properties are bought 
and to set out eligibility criteria. 
 
 
Question 9: Do you agree that the Levy should capture value uplift associated with permitted 
development rights that create new dwellings? [Yes/No/Unsure]. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
Are there some types of permitted development where no Levy should be charged? 
[Yes/No/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
No.  
 
All permitted development rights that result in a new dwelling plus other uses which will generate 
additional occupations, more intensive use and movement should be subject to the Levy. This will 
ensure that where there are impacts, for example where traffic and/or pedestrian/cycle 
movements increase, the Levy can be charged and used to provide infrastructure.  
 
 
Question 10: Do you have views on the proposal to bring schemes brought forward through 
permitted development rights within scope of the Levy? Do you have views on an appropriate 
value threshold for qualifying permitted development? Do you have views on an appropriate Levy 
rate ‘ceiling’ for such sites, and how that might be decided? 
 
Response: 
 
Proposals brought forward through permitted development rights should be within the scope of 
the Levy to ensure that the necessary infrastructure can be delivered. Development has the same 
impacts on/requirements for infrastructure regardless of whether they need planning permission 
or benefit from permitted development. 
  

Page 27



The rates (types of development/land) and minimum thresholds (paragraph 2.21) and maximum 
percentage rate should be at the discretion of each authority. Local authorities are best place to 
determine the priorities and infrastructure requirements associated with developing sites.  
Including a buffer as referred to at paragraph 2.14 bullet point 3, is likely to result in lower 
contributions than at present. Whilst when setting CIL rates, a buffer is used, this is not applied 
when negotiating S106 contributions. Where there is a viability case put forward by a developer, 
S106 contributions are calculated using the maximum margin for viability. There is a risk that 
including a buffer will remove this margin and result in lower overall contributions. 
 
Paragraph 2.14 bullet point 4 refers to using the value of present developer contributions as a 
starting point. The present value does not however reflect the contributions required to deliver the 
necessary infrastructure due to a range of reasons including, viability, uncertainty and 
expectations around land value, lack of engagement/justification/evidence by infrastructure 
providers, pressure from developers and the weight attached to housing delivery where 
authorities do not have a 5-year land supply. Using existing contributions is therefore not an 
appropriate starting point. 
 
 
Question 11: Is there is a case for additional offsets from the Levy, beyond those identified in the 
paragraphs above to facilitate marginal brownfield development coming forward? 
[Yes/No/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary, 
using case studies if possible. 
 
Response: 
 
Unsure. 
 
Brownfield sites do not always incur additional costs and where they are serviced there may be 
lower costs then those associated with developing greenfield sites. Greenfield sites can be more 
costly to build due to lack of services, levels, biodiversity net gain requirements etc. 
 
The proposed method of using a percentage of GDV as the Levy rate, will not be effective in 
reflecting the wide range of costs associated with the development of PLD without local 
authorities carrying out signficiant amount of background evidence on individual sites. Some PDL 
sites may incur signficiant costs associated with mitigation whereas others may benefit from 
services and will not incur additional mitigation costs. To collate evidence which reflect the wide 
range of costs, a local authority may need to carryout contaminated land surveys and mitigation 
schemes, work to determine costs of demolition and disposal etc. Local authorities do not have 
the resources to bare such additional costs at plan making/Levy setting.  
 
The proposed charging framework at paragraph 2.21 encourages demolition and replacement 
over the re-use of buildings. However, the costs of retrofit can be higher than those associated 
with demolition and new build, making regeneration the less viable option. As demolition and re-
build often result in higher levels of embodied carbon, conversion and re-use should be 
supported to ensure carbon emissions are minimised.  
 
To reflect the wide range of brownfield/PDL sites and their costs, there will potentially be a need 
for many different offsets for different typologies and on a site-specific basis. This could be overly 
onerous and expensive for local authorities to evidence at Levy setting stage, complicated to 
administer and for developers to determine which off-set a site falls within. 
 
If offsets are permitted, they should be at the discretion of local authorities which are best place 
to determine priorities and assess the implications in relation to differing typologies. 
 
 

Page 28



Question 12: The government wants the Infrastructure Levy to collect more than the existing 
system, whilst minimising the impact on viability. How strongly do you agree that the following 
components of Levy design will help achieve these aims? 
 
- Charging the Levy on final sale GDV of a scheme [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree.  
 
- The use of different Levy rates and minimum thresholds on different development uses and 
typologies [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] 
 
Response: 
 
Unsure. 
 
- Ability for local authorities to set ‘stepped’ Levy rates [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree. 
 
- Separate Levy rates for thresholds for existing floorspace that is subject to change of use, and 
floorspace that is demolished and replaced [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly 
Disagree/Unsure] 
 
Disagree. 
 

Question 13: Please provide a free text response to explain your answers above where 

necessary. 

 
Response: 
 
Charging on GDV may enable increased contributions to reflect increases in the value of a 
development but this will only be effective in a rising market. Including a buffer as suggested, 
may reduce the overall contributions to infrastructure. While a buffer is currently included when 
determining CIL rates, S106 contributions can take contributions up to the viability margin on 
individual sites.  
 
Charging on GDV does not allow for situations where the costs of a scheme rise but the GDV 
does not.  
 
To reflect the various markets around a single district and the costs associated with the 
development of various uses and typologies will create a complex range of Levy rates. To 
effectively take account of the variety of costs associated with a wide range site and development 
typologies, local planning authorities will need to carryout extensive background evidence. This 
will result in increased costs and time in preparing Levy rates incurred by local authorities. Local 
authorities do not have the resources to undertake additional detailed evidence. The process of 
Levy setting will result in a requirement for signficiant levels of negotiation and potentially 
disagreement between local authorities, landowners, and developers with regard to existing land 

Page 29



value, reasonable uplift expectations, development costs and reasonable profit levels. Where 
agreement cannot be reached between the differing aims to ensure the delivery of infrastructure 
and profit, examinations may be complex and lengthy.  
 
Setting different rates to reflect market areas, even with a district will exacerbating divide in 
infrastructure provision between high and low value areas. This will be exacerbated further at 
national level.  
 
If stepped rates are to be included, they should be charged at the point of payment not at the 
date that a planning permission is granted. If a rate is to be determined at the date a planning 
permission is granted, this could incentivise developers/landowners into gaining planning 
permission to land bank. 
 
If lower rates are set for typologies, there is a question mark over how to fund infrastructure 
where there are no or less Levy contributions. It is not clear how such a funding gap would be 
remedied.  
 
 
Question 14: Do you agree that the process outlined in Table 3 is an effective way of calculating 
and paying the Levy? [Yes/No/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to explain your 
answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Unsure. 
 
Whilst the process may be effective, local planning authorities will need to have increased access 
to valuation expertise to assess the GDV at application stage. This will have resource (expertise 
and cost) implications which will need to be addressed. Where expertise are not in house, there 
may be issues around securing such expertise, and avoiding conflicts of interest. 
 
There are potential implications the way GDV will have to be forecast in advance of the sale of 
projects in order to estimate Levy liabilities. Valuations, particularly on assets that will not be sold 
may add complexity and uncertainty as markets fluctuate.  
 
There is a prospect of disputes over GDV valuation. A mechanism for resolving such disputes will 
be necessary. This may add cost of delays for both local planning authorities and developers.  
 
Delaying payment to post completion, could enable unscrupulous companies or individuals to 
avoid payment by dissolving companies or declaring bankruptcy. Payment through a series of 
instalments should be the default position to ensure that there are no incentives to take measures 
to avoid payment at the end of a project.  
 
 
Question 15: Is there an alternative payment mechanism that would be more suitable for the 
Infrastructure Levy? [Yes/No/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to explain your answer 
where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Payment should be phased throughout a development. This will ensure that were possible, 
infrastructure can be delivered incrementally, and the risk of non-payment is minimised. It will 
also ensure that where necessary the balance of financial contributions and in-kind contributions 
can be adjusted to reflect changing GDV values. 
 

Page 30



 
Question 16: Do you agree with the proposed application of a land charge at commencement of 
development and removal of a local land charge once the provisional Levy payment is made? 
[Yes/No/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary 
 
Response: 
 
No. 
 
This will encourage unscrupulous companies or individuals to avoid payment by dissolving 
companies or declaring bankruptcy.  
 
A more effective method, especially on large schemes would be to amend the land charge to 
reflect phases of development. For example, include a land charge on the whole site until the 
provisional payment is made prior to development commencing then remove the land charge for 
the first phase once at this point but retain it for subsequent phases. As subsequent phased 
payments are made the land charge could then be removed incrementally. 
 
 
Question 17: Will removal of the local land charge at the point the provisional Levy liability is 
paid prevent avoidance of Infrastructure Levy payments? [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/ Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to 
explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
No. 
 
The risk of avoidance, particularly in respect of large sites will be signficiant if the land charge is 
removed following the provisional payment. A phased approach to payment and removal of the 
land charge would be a more appropriate route.   
 
 
Question 18: To what extent do you agree that a local authority should be able to require that 
payment of the Levy (or a proportion of the Levy liability) is made prior to site completion?  
[Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure]. Please explain your answer. 
 
Response: 
 
Strongly agree. 
 
The risk of avoidance, particularly in respect of large sites will be signficiant if payment is delayed 
until completion.  
 
It should also be noted that the risks to local planning authorities and high tier authorities charged 
with providing infrastructure will be significant if payment is delayed until completion. There is 
also a risk that with payments delayed until completion, there will be a reluctance by 
infrastructure providers to deliver the necessary infrastructure. 
 
A phased approach to payment at specified points throughout a development would be an 
appropriate route. Provisional or phased payments should not be at the discretion of the 
developer as suggested at paragraph 3.15 but set out in a payment or phasing schedule by local 
planning authorities in a similar way to the current CIL system. Payment in phases will minimise 
the borrowing liabilities for infrastructure providers by enabling part payment of Levy contributions 

Page 31



throughout the development. This will reduce the risks to infrastructure providers and encourage 
implementation of infrastructure earlier on within the development cycle. 
 
 
Question 19: Are there circumstances when a local authority should be able to require an early 
payment of the Levy or a proportion of the Levy? Please provide a free text response to explain 
your where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
A phased approach to payment at specified points throughout a development be an appropriate 
route. This should not be at the discretion of the developer as suggested at paragraph 3.15 but 
set out in a phasing schedule by local planning authorities in a similar way to the current CIL 
system.  
 
 
Question 20: Do you agree that the proposed role for valuations of GDV is proportionate and 
necessary in the context of creating a Levy that is responsive to market conditions 
[Yes/No/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
No. 
 
There should be requirement for developers to provide valuations at the indicative liability stage if 
it is anticipated that the contributions will be much lower than anticipated within the charging 
schedule. This will enable local authorities to consider the implications for infrastructure provision, 
borrowing requirements and delivery.  
 
Sales data does not necessarily reflect GDV accurately as they may omit incentives or omit 
additional payments for enhancements.   
 
A mechanism to determine value of in-kind infrastructure and resolves disputes is needed. 
 
 
Question 21: To what extent do you agree that the borrowing against Infrastructure Levy 
proceeds will be sufficient to ensure the timely delivery of infrastructure? [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/ Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to 
explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree. 
 
Due to the delay in payments the risk posed to authorities borrowing and delivering infrastructure 
will be significant. This is likely to deter delivery within the earlier stages of development and 
result in delays. The risks are greater with two tier authorities where the lower tier collects the 
Levy and the higher tier delivers infrastructure. In these circumstances there is the potential for 
conflicting priorities and disagreement between authorities and infrastructure providers with 
regard to costs, delivery mechanisms and timing of delivery. Developments may therefore be 
nearing completion or potentially complete for some time before the necessary infrastructure is in 
place. Where the infrastructure Levy is insufficient to deliver all necessary infrastructure, there is 
a risk that it is not delivered. 

Page 32



 
 
Question 22: To what extent do you agree that the government should look to go further, and 
enable specified upfront payments for items of infrastructure to be a condition for the granting of 
planning permission? [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please 
provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Strongly agree. 
 
Where off-site infrastructure is necessary to make a development acceptable, up-front payments 
are essential to ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely manner to address the impacts 
of a development. This is especially the case with the provision of sustainable travel (bus 
provision, footpath and cycle provision) as having these in place prior to occupation and/or early 
within development is essential in encouraging use and delivering modal shift. The same may 
apply to education provision where there is a deficit of places to meet the needs of new residents.  
 
 
Question 23: Are there other mechanisms for ensuring infrastructure is delivered in a timely 
fashion that the government should consider for the new Infrastructure Levy? [Yes/No/Unsure] 
Please provide free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
A system of phased payments, partially set out in charging schedule and partially site dependant 
informed by the Infrastructure Delivery Strategy for specific sites would enable a flexible payment 
mechanism to ensure the necessary infrastructure can be delivered in a timely way. 
 
 
Question 24: To what extent do you agree that the strategic spending plan included in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Strategy will provide transparency and certainty on how the Levy will be 
spent? [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree] Please provide a free text 
response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree. 
 
The Infrastructure Delivery Strategy and strategic spending plan will be highly dependent upon 
cooperation and transparency between different tiers of authorities when putting together 
evidence about the infrastructure needs, the costs and delivery mechanisms. This does not 
always happen at present. To ensure that there is cooperation and transparency, there must be 
mechanisms in place to ensure that the infrastructure providers are responsible for providing 
evidence to support the infrastructure requirements and costs and that the detail behind the 
evidence/costs is transparent.  
 
The scope of the evidence, costs and delivery mechanisms required should be clearly set out 
within guidance to ensure clarity and prevent disagreement between different tiers of authorities, 
landowners and developers. It is important that the strategy is flexible and focuses on strategic 
infrastructure structure rather than detail and specific solutions. However, flexibility may be at 
odds with transparency and the need to evidence infrastructure costs. 
 
 

Page 33



Question 25: In the context of a streamlined document, what information do you consider is 
required for a local authority to identify infrastructure needs? 
 
Response: 
 
There would need to be signficiant input from infrastructure providers. They would need to 
provide clear, evidenced, justified and defensible rationale for the infrastructure identified and 
indicative costs. Evidence would need differentiate between needs generated by specific 
developments, incremental development and current deficits in provision. Indicative costs for 
infrastructure would also be required.  
 
 
Question 26: Do you agree that views of the local community should be integrated into the 
drafting of an Infrastructure Delivery Strategy? [Yes/No/Unsure] Please provide a free text 
response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
The views of the local community will be important in identifying existing issues and setting out 
the priorities for delivery.  
 

Question 27: Do you agree that a spending plan in the Infrastructure Delivery Strategy should 
include: 
 
- Identification of general integral infrastructure requirements 
- Identification of infrastructure/types of infrastructure that are to be funded by the Levy- 
Prioritisation of infrastructure and how the Levy will be spent 
- Approach to affordable housing including right to require proportion and tenure mix 
- Approach to any discretionary elements for the neighbourhood share 
- Proportion for administration 
- The anticipated borrowing that will be required to deliver infrastructure 
- Other – please explain your answer 
- All of the above 
 
Response: 
 
All of the above. 
 
 
Question 28: How can we make sure that infrastructure providers such as county councils can 
effectively influence the identification of Levy priorities? 
- Guidance to local authorities on which infrastructure providers need to be consulted, how to 
engage and when 
- Support to county councils on working collaboratively with the local authority as to what can be 
funded through the Levy 
- Use of other evidence documents when preparing the Infrastructure Delivery Strategy, such as 
Local Transport Plans and Local Education Strategies 
- Guidance to local authorities on prioritisation of funding 
- Implementation of statutory timescales for infrastructure providers to respond to local authority 
requests 
- Other – please explain your answer 
 

Page 34



Response: 
 
All of the above. 
 
It is essential that guidance ensures evidence supplied by a county council is robust, justified and 
related to planned development within the local plan. 
 
 
Question 29: To what extent do you agree that it is possible to identify infrastructure 
requirements at the local plan stage? [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly 
Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree. 
 
Subject to the active input from infrastructure providers it will be possible to identify some of the 
larger scale infrastructure requirements. However, the amount of work and the costs required to 
identify all infrastructure requirements at this stage will be excessive, particularly if a local plan 
includes many small, dispersed sites. It should also be noted that the need for some 
infrastructure fluctuates over time. 
 
 
Question 30: To what extent do you agree that the ‘right to require’ will reduce the risk that 
affordable housing contributions are negotiated down on viability grounds? [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to 
explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree.  
 
The Levy and ‘right to require’ will remove the risk of negotiation and reduction of affordable 
housing contributions at planning application stage. However, it is likely to generate increased 
objection and challenge on viability grounds from developers and landowners at plan 
making/Levy setting stage. Efforts will therefore be redirected to negotiating affordable housing 
contributions down at this stage.  
 
When setting a CIL rate, a 30-50% viability buffer is included within the calculations. Whereas, 
when considering the viability of S106 contributions through viability assessments at application 
stage, such a buffer is not used. If a buffer similar to that used for CIL is expected to be used 
when calculating the Levy, there is a risk that the amount of overall contributions will be reduced. 
 
Using existing affordable housing contributions as a starting point will not support delivery as 
these are currently subject to negotiation and are likely to set out a lower rate than could be 
viability delivered.  
 
Question 31: To what extent do you agree that local authorities should charge a highly 
discounted/zero-rated Infrastructure Levy rate on high percentage/100% affordable housing 
schemes? [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a 
free text response to explain your answer where necessary 
 
Response: 
 
Agree. 

Page 35



 
As affordable housing will be provided on site, a contribution for this element of the Levy will not 
be required.  
 
 
Question 32: How much infrastructure is normally delivered alongside registered provider-led 
schemes in the existing system? Please provide examples. 
 
Response: 
 
The district as elsewhere in the country is experiencing viability assessments on all schemes. It is 
rare we secure the full complement of the affordable housing provision in accordance with policy 
but when we do this leaves very little available for other infrastructure. As a rule when education 
is accounted for in terms of primary and secondary places and some limited offsite financial 
contribution towards open space that’s the only infrastructure provided for. 
 

Question 33: As per paragraph 5.13, do you think that an upper limit of where the ‘right to 
require’ could be set should be introduced by the government? [Yes/No/unsure] Alternatively, do 
you think where the ‘right to require’ is set should be left to the discretion of the local authority? 
[Yes/No/unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
No. 
 
The right to require threshold should be set locally based on the infrastructure and affordable 
housing needs in the area. 
 
 
Question 34: Are you content that the Neighbourhood Share should be retained under the 
Infrastructure Levy? [Yes/No/Unsure?] 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
 
Question 35: In calculating the value of the Neighbourhood Share, do you think this should A) 
reflect the amount secured under CIL in parished areas (noting this will be a smaller proportion of 
total revenues), B) be higher than this equivalent amount C) be lower than this equivalent amount 
D) Other (please specify) or E) unsure. Please provide a free text response to explain your 
answer where necessary 
 
Response: 
 
D) Other.  
 
The Neighbourhood Share should not be determined by using an arbitrary percentage as is the 
case with CIL. The amount of the Neighbourhood Share should reflect the type and amount of 
infrastructure necessary to support development in the parish or forum area, contributions to 
address the cumulative impact of development on infrastructure and infrastructure needs 
identified within a Neighbourhood Plan.   
 
 

Page 36



Question 36: The government is interested in views on arrangements for spending the 
neighbourhood share in unparished areas. What other bodies do you think could be in receipt of 
a Neighbourhood Share such areas? 
 
Response: 
 
N/A 
 
 
Question 37: Should the administrative portion for the new Levy A) reflect the 5% level which 
exists under CIL B) be higher than this equivalent amount, C) be lower than this equivalent 
amount, D) Other, (please specify), or E) unsure. Please provide a free text response to explain 
your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
D) Other.  
 
The portion should be higher than the current amount under CIL to reflect the actual costs 
incurred in implementing and delivering the system. This is likely to require a higher proportion as 
the system is being implemented, for example costs associated with the purchase of new 
software, recruitment and additional staff costs, training to operate the system and changes to 
financing and reporting systems. Local authorities will also incur additional costs in procuring 
independent valuation expertise to administer the system. 
 
Additional funding should be made available to ensure that the costs associated with setting up 
and administering the Levy do not result in a reduced amount of the contributions being used for 
infrastructure and to ensure other services are not affected by the additional costs incurred.  
 
 
Question 38: Applicants can apply for mandatory or discretionary relief for social housing under 
CIL. Question 31 seeks views on exempting affordable housing from the Levy. This question 
seeks views on retaining other countrywide exemptions. How strongly do you agree the following 
should be retained: 
 
- residential annexes and extensions; [Strongly Agree/Agree/Disagree/Strongly Disagree] 
 
Agree as these do not usually exceed the threshold. 
 
- self-build housing; [Strongly Agree/Agree/Disagree/Strongly Disagree] 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree 
 
Housing of all build types have an impact on demand for infrastructure, services and facilities. 
The impacts on infrastructure arising from multi-plot or large-scale self-build scheme will not differ 
from the impacts arising from a scheme implemented by a national or small-scale housing 
developer. The Levy on other types of delivery mechanism will need to subsidise self-build 
housing, increasing the burden.  
 
If you strongly agree/agree, should there be any further criteria that are applied to these 
exemptions, for example in relation to the size of the development? 
 
N/A 

Page 37



 
 
Question 39: Do you consider there are other circumstances where relief from the Levy or 
reduced Levy rates should apply, such as for the provision of sustainable technologies? 
[Yes/No/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
There are no specific circumstances which would apply on a national basis, however there would 
be merit in local authorities being able to set out exemptions to reflect local circumstances and 
priorities. 
 
 
Question 40: To what extent do you agree with our proposed approach to small sites? [Strongly 
Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to 
explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Disagree.  
 
Small sites have a cumulative impact on infrastructure, it is therefore essential that they do 
contribute. It is recognised that smaller sites, especially those developed by SMEs do not 
generate the economies of scale the larger sites. However, some rural sites where values are 
high can generate significant increases in land value. It should not therefore be assumed that all 
small sites face the same viability issues and that rates should be lower.  
 
As small sites deliver most homes in rural areas, the ability to require affordable housing should 
be extended beyond designated rural areas to enable local rural needs to be met. This will enable 
local authorities to determine their own priorities for delivering infrastructure and affordable 
housing in rural areas.   
 
Small sites in sustainable locations, such as town and city centres, may be the most appropriate 
location for the delivery of affordable homes. Local authorities should therefore be able to 
determine their own priorities for such sites. Provided that the overall Levy reflects costs and 
viability, local authorities should be able to determine whether in-kind affordable housing or other 
infrastructure is most appropriate.  
 
 
Question 41: What risks will this approach pose, if any, to SME housebuilders, or to the delivery 
of affordable housing in rural areas? Please provide a free text response using case study 
examples where appropriate. 
 
Response: 
 
As the Levy can be set at differing rates for differing sizes of development, typologies and 
locations, there should be minimal risk to SMEs.  
 
Small sites are generally more appropriate in rural areas, especially areas such as AONBs due to 
landscape, settlement character, biodiversity and infrastructure issues. As small sites provide a 
large proportion of new homes in rural areas, it is important to ensure that affordable homes can 
be delivered where they are needed. Local authorities should be able to determine their own 
priorities for the delivery of affordable homes and/or other infrastructure on such sites.  

Page 38



 
 
Question 42: Are there any other forms of infrastructure that should be exempted from the Levy 
through regulations? 
 
Response: 
 
Yes. 
 
Buildings for community and some charitable uses. 
 
 
Question 43: Do you agree that these enforcement mechanisms will be sufficient to secure Levy 
payments? [Strongly Agree/Agree/Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a 
free text response to explain your answer where necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
Unsure. 
 
The principles referred to may be sufficient, however, this will depend upon the detail which 
remains to be provided in regulations. Delaying payment to post completion, could enable 
unscrupulous companies or individuals to avoid payment by dissolving companies or declaring 
bankruptcy. There is also potential for issues to arise when seeking to enforce payment where 
companies or individuals are registered overseas, particularly in countries where ownerships can 
be hidden.  
 
The principle and benefits for a developer in delaying payment until after completion are 
understood. However, this does present potential enforcement issues. Payment through a series 
of instalments should be the default position to ensure that there are no incentives to take 
measures to avoid payment at the end of a project.  
 
 
Question 44: Do you agree that the proposed ‘test and learn’ approach to transitioning to the 
new Infrastructure Levy will help deliver an effective system? [Strongly Agree/Agree/ 
Neutral/Disagree/Strongly Disagree/Unsure] Please provide a free text response to explain your 
answer where necessary 
 
Response: 
 
Yes.  
 
However, a long implementation period is likely to create uncertainty within the development 
industry which may affect decisions to proceed with developments.  
 
 
Question 45: Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals raised in this 
consultation on people with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010? [Yes/No/Unsure]. Please provide a free text response to explain your answer where 
necessary. 
 
Response: 
 
No. 

Page 39



COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
Introduction of a use class for short term lets and 

associated permitted development rights 
 

1 June 2023 
 

Report of Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change 
 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To allow the Committee to consider the proposed consultation response to changes to the 
national planning system regarding the issue of short term letting accommodation.  
 
 

This report is public.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) That the statutory consultation response be agreed and formally submitted. 
 
 
1.0 Introduction and Statutory Process 
 
1.1 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) are consulting 

on changes to the national planning system for the use of buildings for short term 
lettings.   
 

1.2 The reason for the consultation is to address concerns about the increase in the 
numbers of short term lets and the impact that this can have on local communities.  
This national consultation closes on 7 June 2023. 

 
2.0 Proposal Details 
 
2.1 The consultation seeks views on changes to the Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order.  This is an Order which categorises different types of land and building 
uses and determines whether planning permission is required to change from one use 
to another (e.g. from retail use to residential use). 

 
2.2 The consultation seeks views on the introduction of a new Use Class for short term 

lets, to be known as Use Class C5.  In addition it seeks views regarding the introduction 
of new permitted development rights which would allow movement between the Use 
Classes without requiring planning permission.  The consultation is available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-
term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights  

 
 

Page 40Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights


3.0 Assessment of the Consultation Proposals 
 
3.1 The attached document summaries the main consultation proposals and sets out each 

of the consultation questions, alongside the City Council’s draft responses.  
 
3.2 In summary, the Council considers that the introduction of a new use class for short 

term lets is a good idea.  Short term lets play an important role in contributing to the 
tourism, leisure and business economy.  However the uncontrolled proliferation of 
short term lets can have a damaging effect on the characteristics of the local area, 
particularly in terms of residential housing supply availability. The draft consultation 
response provides some thoughts about how the proposals could be amended to be 
more transparent. 

 
3.3 The City Council is less enthusiastic about the introduction of new permitted 

development rights which would allow, for example, properties that are used as 
dwellings to be used as short term lets without requiring planning permission, unless 
the local authority sought ‘Article 4 Direction’ powers to control the change of use. 
Article 4 Direction powers enable a local planning authority, or the Secretary of State 
to withdraw certain specific permitted development rights across a defined 
geographical area.  Compelling area-specific evidence regarding an existing problem 
is required to justify an Article 4 Direction, and national advice is that it must apply to 
the smallest geographical area possible.  This type of approach to controlling changes 
between uses is not preferred for the reasons stated in the attached draft response. 

 
3.4 Instead of introducing permitted development rights, the City Council’s response 

advocates that the Use Classes Order should simply be amended to create the new 
C5 Use Class.  This would create no ambiguity, nor any differences in approach across 
England.  There would be certainty for property owners and neighbouring residents 
alike.  

 
4.0 Details of Consultation 
 
4.1 This is a voluntary consultation that Lancaster City Council has chosen to respond to 

because of the impact that short term lets can have within the district, particularly in 
the areas of Morecambe and Heysham.  

 
4.2 In preparing this consultation the views of the Chair of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee have been obtained and these have informed the content of the response. 
  
5.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment)  
 
5.1 The options that are available are: 
 
 Option 1:  To respond to the 

consultation with the draf t 
response 

Option 2:  To respond to 
the consultation with other 
comments 

Option 3:  To not 
submit a 
response to this 
consultation 

Advantages 
 

The views of the Council will 
be considered by 
Government and could 
contribute to legislative 
change. 
 

The views of  the Council 
will be considered by 
Government and could 
contribute to legislative 
change. 
 

None 

Disadvantages 
 

None. None. The formal 
opinion of  
Lancaster City 

Page 41



Council would not 
be provided, and 
an opportunity to 
contribute to the 
proposals would 
be lost.   

Risks 
 

None. None. None 

  
 

7.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
7.1 The preferred option is Option 1, to respond to the consultation as per the attached 

draft.   
 
8.0 Conclusion 
 
8.1 This consultation provides a useful basis for the amendment of  national planning 

powers to help control the spread of short term lets and the City Council is supportive 
of the proposed measures, subject to the suggested changes described in the draft 
response.  

 
8.2 The City Council also considers that creating a new Use Class for short term lets, but 

then conveying permitted development rights on changes to such a use (unless each 
local authority introduces Article 4 Direction areas), is an overly-complex and time-
consuming way of addressing the issue.  The City Council’s suggested approach  would 
avoid these consequences arising.  

 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
The proposal has the potential to require change of use planning permission for some/all short 
term lets, subject to the final wording of the proposals. Such a requirement would apply to all 
potential applicants, including individuals and businesses who wanted to change the use of 
their property in this way.  
 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no legal implications stemming from this report. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
None. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

Page 42



 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add.  
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Draft Consultation Response from Lancaster 
City Council (appended to this report) 
 

Contact Officer:  Mark Cassidy 
Telephone:  01524 582390  
Email:  mcassidy@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A 
 
  
 

  
 
 

Page 43



 

 

 

Response to Consultation: 

Introduction of a use class for short term lets and associated permitted 

development rights 

 

Background 

On 12 April 2023 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) published a 

national consultation which sought views on proposals to introduce a new use class for short term 

lets. 

Uses of buildings and land are nationally categorised by virtue of the Town and County Planning 

(Use Classes) Order.  Changes between uses that exist in the same ‘Use Class’ do not generally 

constitute development, and as a consequence do not require planning permission. 

A typical residential house would fall within the C3 Dwellinghouses Use Class under the Use Classes 

Order.  However, this use class make no explicit distinction between whether the house is used solely 

as a dwelling; or whether a room is rented out whilst the remainder of the property is used as a 

dwelling; or whether the property is rented out occasionally for short term lets.  

The headline proposals in the consultation include: 

• The proposed introduction of a new use class (Class C5) for short term lets; 

• The potential introduction of a new permitted development right for the change of use from 

a dwellinghouse (C3) to a short term let (C5); 

• The potential introduction of a new permitted development right for the change of use from 

a short term let (C5) to a dwellinghouse (C3): 

• How a flexibility for homeowners to let out their home for a number of nights in a calendar 

year could be provided through either changes to the dwellinghouse use class or an 

additional permitted development right; and, 

• The introduction of a planning application fee for the development of new build short term 

lets. 

 

This consultation response represents the views of Lancaster City Council. 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



Questions 

Q1 – Do you agree that the planning system could be used to help to manage the increase in 

short term lets? 

 

Yes, the principle of creating a new use class to distinguish between short term lets and residential 

properties is welcome.  Despite the contribution that short-term rentals make to the local economy, 

the current system provides insufficient protections against the proliferation of short term lets, which 

can have a detrimental impact on community cohesion and the character of a neighbourhood, as 

well as impacting upon the wider availability of residential supply.  

 

Q2 – Do you agree with the introduction of a new use class for short term lets? 

 

Yes, although we have concerns regarding the current drafting of the proposals (see other responses 

to questions, below). 

 

Q3 – Do you agree with the description and definition of a short term let for the purpose of 

the new use class? 

 

Yes.  For clarity the proposed definition of a short term let use class for planning purposes is: 

 

“Use of a dwellinghouse that is not a sole or main residence for temporary sleeping accommodation for 

the purpose of holiday, leisure, recreation, business or other travel.” 

 

We believe that this wording can potentially represent all of the short term letting scenarios that 

exist.  However we also consider that revisions to the C Use Class should go further and we have 

suggested a possible approach in Q5.  This approach would bring absolute clarity to an issue that 

continues to create a disproportionate amount of confusion to homeowners, tenants, neighbouring 

residents and letting companies alike.   

 

Q4 – Do you have any comments about how the new C5 short term let use class will operate? 

 

We make suggestions in responses to Q5, Q6 and Q12.  

 

Q5 – Do you consider there should be specific arrangements for certain accommodation as a 

result of the short term let use class? 

 

We consider that the Use Classes Order should clearly categorise the different forms of short term 

accommodation.  We would suggest the following: 

 

C1  Hotels (We would suggest that this class is AMENDED to explicitly include Serviced 

Apartments, e.g. Aparthotels, etc).   

C2 Residential Institutions (Unchanged) 

C2A Secure Residential Institutions (Unchanged) 

C3A Dwellinghouses (Unchanged)  

C3B Dwellinghouses - upto six people living together and receiving care (Unchanged) 

C3C Dwellinghouses – unrelated single households (Unchanged) 

Page 45



C3D NEW - Dwellinghouses – student housing – We would suggest a new use class to distinguish 

the often longer term, but still transient use of student accommodation from residential 

units.  

C4 Small Houses in Multiple Occupation (Unchanged) 

C5 NEW - Holiday Lettings – New use class to distinguish between (i) the letting out of rooms 

by homeowners, which could continue under Use Class C3 subject to stricter overnight limits 

(see Q12); and, (ii) the longer term holiday lettings that would be exceed those limits, and 

thus be placed in Class C5. 

Sui Generis – Hostels (Unchanged) 

 

Q6 – Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right for the change of 

use from a C3 dwellinghouse to a C5 short term let? 

 

No. The creation of additional permitted development rights regarding this contentious issue will 

only put local planning authorities under increased pressure to seek to introduce Article 4 Directions 

for those areas which witness the highest number of short terms lets.  This additional workload, 

when multiplied across the country, will inevitably slow down the planning system further.   

 

In the absence of an Article 4 Direction, current C3 dwellinghouses will be able to change use to C5 

short term lets without the need for planning permission.  In effect, this would liberalise the current 

position (currently short-term accommodation that is not ancillary to the main use of the dwelling 

would amount to a material change of use).  We consider this to be a retrograde step that would 

have an unintended consequence of creating additional short term lettings. 

 

The current national advice regarding Article 4 Direction Areas (i.e. that they should apply to the 

smallest geographical area possible) is rarely practical or transferrable to coastal resorts which often 

have dispersed, linear layouts, including lengthy promenades and secondary streets.  These areas are 

neither ‘small’ nor spatially cohesive.  Introducing controls via possible Article 4 Directions introduces 

further red tape in a system that requires simplification.  

 

The compensation arrangements applicable to the introduction of immediate Article 4 Direction 

proposals would also persuade local planning authorities to introduce Article 4 Directions with 12 

months’ notice in order to avoid compensatory claims.  This would have an adverse effect of 

encouraging property owners to convert their properties to short term lets prior to the introduction 

of the Article 4, thus circumventing the controls that many consider are needed. 

 

If the intention is to restrict the unchecked growth of short term lets, then we would recommend 

that the C5 use class simply establishes the criteria whereby change of use will be required via the 

Use Classes Order.  

 

Q7 - Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right for the change of 

use from a C5 short term let to a C3 dwellinghouse? 

 

No.  There may be locations where short term lets are considered an appropriate use in order to 

support the tourism and leisure economy.  Some of these locations may be remote from 

settlements.  Allowing them to change to dwellings without planning permission may cause 

unintended consequences of creating unsustainable permanent residential developments that are 

Page 46



remotely located from services such as schools, healthcare and local facilities.   This pattern of 

development would, when replicated, fail to adhere to the principles of the Development Plan or the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Q8 – Do you agree that the permitted development rights should not be subject to any 

limitations or conditions? 

 

We do not agree with the introduction of permitted development rights for changes from Class C3 

to C5 or vice versa.  We consider that these changes of use should require planning permission 

where the impacts and benefits of each proposal can be appropriately assessed. 

 

We are also of the view that the current C3 Use Class should have restrictions that are explicit in the 

Use Classes Order regarding the number of nights that a C3 use could be let out for (see Q12). 

 

Q9 – Do you agree that the local planning authority (LPA) should be notified when either of 

the two permitted development rights for change of use to a short term let (A) or from a 

short term let (B) are used? 

 

No.  Fundamentally we believe changing from C3 to C5 and vice versa should require planning 

permission. 

 

A notification system is no substitute for creating a Use Classes Order that is clear and which 

provides owners of properties with clarity regarding their rights to change between uses. 

 

Q10 – Do you have any comments about other potential planning approaches? 

 

Our preferred approaches are suggested in Q5, Q6 and Q12. 

 

Alternatively, we would support short term lets (that exceed the defined number of nights specified 

in Q12) being added to the list of uses identified as Sui Generis uses (i.e. not in any use class, and 

thus always requiring planning permission).  

 

Q11 – Do you agree that we should expressly provide a flexibility for homeowners to let out 

their homes (C3 dwellinghouses)? 

 

Yes.  However the legislation needs to be amended to differentiate between short term lets more 

effectively.  This should distinguish those uses that maintain an element of continued residential use 

(i.e. a resident who lets out a room(s) within their existing dwellinghouse, and the proliferation of full 

property AirBnB-type short term lets and other similar holiday lettings.   

 

Q12 – If yes (to Q11), should this flexibility be for: 

(i) 30 nights in a calendar year; or 

(ii) 60 nights in a calendar year; or 

(iii) 90 nights in a calendar year. 

 

We believe option (ii), 60 nights per calendar year, is appropriate.  If the number of nights exceeds 

this figure, we believe that the use should be considered to be Class C5. 

Page 47



 

Q13 – Should this flexibility be provided through: 

(i) A permitted development right for use of a C3 dwellinghouse as temporary 

sleeping accommodation for up to a defined number of nights in a calendar 

year; 

(ii) An amendment to the C3 dwellinghouse use class to allow them to be let for up 

to a defined number of nights in a calendar year. 

 

We consider option (ii) would provide more clarity for homeowners. 

 

Q14 – Do you agree that a planning application fee equivalent to each new dwellinghouse 

should apply to applications for each new build short term let? 

 

Yes.  It is vital that the costs of administering this system via the planning process are covered by 

appropriate planning application fees.  

 

Q15 – Do you agree with the proposed approach to the permitted development rights for 

dwellinghouses (Part 1) and minor operations (Part 2)? 

 

Yes.  We consider that the existing permitted development rights regarding extensions, 

enlargements to property and minor operations can also apply to short term lets. 

 

Q16 – Do you have any further comments you wish to make on the proposed planning 

changes in this consultation document? 

 

Above all, this Council does not consider that the increased use of Article 4 Directions is desirable, 

practical or in the interest of transparent planning.  Please take the opportunity to make the C-Use 

Classes clear at a national level.  

 

Q17 – Do you think that the proposed introduction of the planning changes in respect of a 

short term let use class and permitted development rights could give rise to any impacts on 

people who share a protected characteristic? (Age; Disability; Gender Reassignment; 

Pregnancy and Maternity; Race; Religion or Belief; Sex; and Sexual Orientation). 

 

A proliferation of short term lets could result in a rise in accommodation which does not benefit 

from adequate disabled access (at the expense of hotels who do usually ensure such access is 

provided).  This may result in an adverse impact on people with disability. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Authorisation 

Report Sign Off 

Mark Cassidy,  

Chief Officer - Planning and Climate Change, Lancaster City Council 

 

23 May 2023 

Planning Regulatory Committee Consultation  

Councillor Sandra Thornberry 

Chair of Planning Regulatory Committee, Lancaster City Council 

 

24 May 2023 

Business Committee Sign Off and Authority to Submit 

Councillor David Whittaker 

Chair of Council Business Committee, Lancaster City Council 

 

 

 

Background Files 

The scope of the DLUHC consultation is available here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-

associated-permitted-development-rights/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-

associated-permitted-development-rights#introduction 

 

 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights#introduction
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights#introduction
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights/introduction-of-a-use-class-for-short-term-lets-and-associated-permitted-development-rights#introduction


 

 

COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
Changes to the Timetable of Meetings for Budget Council 

  
1 June 2023 

 
Report of Senior Manager, Democratic Support and 

Elections  
  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The report seeks approval for changes to the timetable in February 2024, as set out in the 
report.  
 

This report is public. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 

1. That the Committee approves the following changes to dates in the Committee 
timetable in the lead up to budget setting for the 2024/25 municipal year: 
 
a) To move the Budget Council meeting back from 21 February 2024 to 28 

February 2024; 
 
b)  To bring forward the 27 February 2024 meeting of Cabinet forward to 20 

February 2024; 
 
c)  An additional Budget and Performance Panel meeting to be held on 14 

February 2024  
 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Chief Financial Officer has reviewed the dates on the timetable leading up to 

budget setting in February 2024.  

 
2.0     Proposal  
 
2.1  The current date for Budget Council is 21 February 2024 and the preferred date, to 

allow more time, is 28 February 2024.  
 
2.2 Holding the Cabinet meeting on 20 February would allow time to receive and 

consider feedback and make any revisions before reporting to Council on 28 
February and would negate the need for the Cabinet meeting scheduled for 27 
February 2024. 

Page 50Agenda Item 9



2.3 The scheduled Budget and Performance Panel meeting on 31 January 2024 is for 
stakeholder and public consultation and the purpose of holding an extra meeting on 
14 February 2024 would be to report on the strategies (Treasury Management and 
Capital Strategy).   

 
3.0 Conclusion  
 
3.1 Committee Members are asked to consider the request to make the changes detailed 

above to the budget-setting schedule to allow more time for consultation, feedback 
and consideration of the budget for 2024/25.     

 
  

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(Including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
None identified. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified. 
 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
These changes have been requested by the s151 officer in his capacity as Chief Finance 
Officer.  
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
  
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 

Contact Officer: Debbie Chambers 
Telephone:  01524 582057 
E-mail: dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: 

 

Page 51



 

 

COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
URGENT BUSINESS DECISION: Response to Technical 

Consultation Increasing Planning Fees and Performance 
  

1 June 2023 
 

Report of Senior Manager, Democratic Support and 
Elections  

  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The report is for information, to notify the committee of an urgent decision taken by the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Chair of Council Business Committee in respect of a 
consultation response. 
 

This report is public. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 

1. That the report notifying Committee Members of an urgent business decision 
taken between meetings is noted. 
 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The report is provided in accordance with the requirements of the Councils 

Constitution which provides that any urgent decisions taken by the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chair of a Committee be reported to the next meeting of that  
Committee. 

 
2.0     Decision/ Action Taken  
 
2.1  On 3 April 2023 the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of Council 

Business Committee considered a consultation response to the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities consultation “Stronger performance of local 
planning authorities supported through an increase in planning fees”. This was done 
in accordance with the Constitution (see below). 

 
Matters of Urgency (delegation to the Chief Executive)   
(Extract below from Part 2, Section 7 of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers) 

  
 Where it is necessary for any function of the Council or one of its committees to be 

discharged and it is impracticable or impossible, by reason of urgency for the matter 
to be considered by the Council or such committee, to take such action as they 

Page 52Agenda Item 10



consider appropriate, in consultation as far as is practicable with the Mayor and 
group leaders in respect of a Council function or the relevant committee Chair in 
respect of a matter within the Terms of reference of a Council Committee. 

 
 Where action is taken under the above, the Chief Executive shall submit a report to 

the next Cabinet, Council or Committee meeting recording the urgent circumstances 
which made the action necessary and detailing any action taken. 

 
2.2 The report and decision were published online HERE 
 
2.3 In this instance, responding on behalf of the Council to consultations falls within the 

Terms of Reference of the Council Business Committee and the Chief Executive 
consulted with the Chair of the Committee, which at that time was Councillor Geoff 
Knight. The reason for urgency the deadline for the consultation response was 25 
April 2023 and the next scheduled meeting of the Committee was not until June 
2023.  

 
3.0 Conclusion  
 
3.1 This report is for information and is required by the Constitution to provide 

transparency regarding the decision-making process     
 
  

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(Including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
None identified. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified. 
 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
No comments, as per original report  

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
No comments, as per original report  

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 

Contact Officer: Debbie Chambers 
Telephone:  01524 582057 
E-mail: dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: 

 

Page 53

http://modgov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=618&MId=8255&Ver=4

	Agenda
	6 Morecambe Offshore wind farm - Consultation
	Chapter+18+SLVIA+Figures+2a+Visuals+-+Viewpoint7
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part1
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part44
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part45
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part46
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part47
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part48
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part49
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2a Visuals_Part50

	Chapter+18+SLVIA+Figures+2b+Visuals+-+Viewpoint+7
	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2b Visuals_Part1
	FIGURE FRONT PAGE Ch 18

	Chapter 18 SLVIA Figures 2b Visuals_Part8


	7 Response to the Technical Consultation on the Infrastructure Levy
	8 Response to Consultation: Introduction of a use class for short term lets and associated permitted development rights
	Response to Consultation - short term APPENDIX

	9 Changes to the Timetable of Meetings for Budget Council
	10 URGENT BUSINESS DECISION: Response to Technical Consultation Increasing Planning Fees and Performance



